## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALI	FORNIA,)
Plaintiff and Respondent,	) ) No. S203744
<b>v.</b>	) 2d Crim. B231338
DARLENE A. VARGAS,	) Los Angeles County
Defendant and Appellant.	) Case No. KA085541
	)

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles

SUPREME COURT FILED

Honorable Bruce F. Marrs, Judge

DEC - 5 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

MELANIE K. DORIAN

California State Bar No. 197955

P.O. Box 5006

Glendale, California 91221-5006

Telephone: (818) 241-5837

Attorney for Appellant DARLENE A. VARGAS

#

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Following her convictions for residential burglary, grand theft and conspiracy to commit grand theft, the trial court sentenced appellant to 30 years to life pursuant to the Third Strikes law. The sentencing record showed that appellant's two prior convictions for carjacking and robbery stemmed from the same case and involved the same victim. However, it

was unclear whether they arose from the same act. Without the benefit of this information, the court declined to dismiss one of the prior convictions.

In the original appeal, appellant showed that the two prior convictions were the result of the single act of taking a car by force. The Second District agreed that trial counsel had rendered ineffective assistance by failing to provide this information to the trial court and remanded for resentencing. The trial court then, once again, declined to exercise its discretion to dismiss one of the prior convictions, and the Court of Appeal found no error.

More than a decade ago, in *People v. Benson* (1998) 18 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 24, 30-33 ("*Benson*"), this Court decided that a trial court was not required to dismiss one of two prior convictions arising from the same case, as this was within the discretion of the trial court. Nonetheless, in a footnote, this Court cited two convictions arising from "a single act" as an example of where a trial court would abuse its discretion not to dismiss one such prior. (*Id.* at p. 36, fn. 8.)

There is currently a split of authority as to the scope and meaning of this footnote and whether a failure to dismiss one of two prior strikes stemming from a single act constitutes an abuse of discretion. (*People v. Scott* (2009) 179 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 920; *People v. Burgos* (2004) 117 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1209.) The instant case produced yet another published opinion, where no

such abuse of discretion was found. (*People v. Vargas* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 971.)

Appellant recognizes that the focus of the Three Strikes law is the repeat offender, and that two prior convictions may qualify as separate strikes regardless of whether the sentence for one of the prior convictions was stayed under Penal Code section 654<sup>1</sup>. However, a section 654 analysis has less significance here, because appellant's punishment in the earlier action was not stayed; she served concurrent sentences for both the carjacking and robbery. Rather, the main inquiry is whether the circumstances of the prior convictions fell within the narrow exception that this Court suggested in *Benson*.

The majority and dissent in *Benson* may have parted ways in their analysis. However, they seemingly agreed that multiple acts and objectives and/or additional acts of violence committed on the same occasion would justify treating each prior conviction as a separate strike, whether under section 654 or consistent with the legislative and electoral intent to punish such offenders more harshly than others for posing a higher risk to public safety. Here, the evidence showed a single act and objective to take the victim's car by force, and there were no additional acts of violence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Unless otherwise noted, all statutory references are to the Penal Code.

committed against the victim or any other person beyond the force or threat of force used to accomplish this objective.

Even if the failure to dismiss one of the prior strikes was not an abuse of discretion based on the single act factor *alone*, given appellant's minimal and non-violent criminal history, the trial court still abused its discretion when it declined to dismiss one of the two prior convictions that occurred ten years prior. Without minimizing her culpability, it is still important to mention that appellant's current offenses did not involve any acts of violence. Reversal is thus required.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of residential burglary (§ 459; count 1), grand theft (§ 487, subd. (a); count 2), and conspiracy to commit grand theft (§ 182, subd. (a)(1); count 3), but acquitted of receiving stolen property (§ 496, subd. (a); count 4). (1 C.T. pp. 4, 6.) Appellant was tried jointly with Oscar Velazquez, who was similarly convicted and acquitted of the same offenses. (1 C.T. pp. 4, 6.)

The information alleged two 1999 felony convictions for carjacking and robbery, qualifying under the Three Strikes law (§§ 667, subds. (b)-(i), 1170.12, subds. (a)-(d)). (1 C.T. p. 11.) Appellant moved to dismiss one of the two prior strikes on the ground that both convictions arose from a single case. (1 C.T. pp. 6, 11-12.) The trial court denied the motion on that basis

and sentenced appellant to 25 years to life in count 1. (1 C.T. pp. 6, 11-12.)

Appellant received a combined state prison sentence of 30 years to life, and

Velasquez received 6 years. (1 C.T. p. 6.)

On appeal, appellant, in part, challenged the trial court's denial of her motion, and additionally sought relief by way of a writ, based on ineffective assistance of her counsel for failing to introduce evidence that the two prior strikes involved a single criminal act. (1 C.T. pp. 3-4, 6-7.) The Court of Appeal granted the petition and remanded for a new sentencing hearing. (1 C.T. pp. 4, 18-20.) In all other respects, the court affirmed the judgment.<sup>2</sup> (1 C.T. pp. 4, 18-20.)

At resentencing on March 2, 2011, the trial court, once again, denied appellant's request to dismiss one of the prior strikes, and re-imposed the 30-year to life sentence, which included 5 years for the prior serious felony conviction enhancement (§ 667, subd. (a)(1)). (1 C.T. pp. 22-23, 26; 1 R.T. p. 8.) The trial court also stayed the 2-year sentence in count 2, as ordered by the appellate court. (1 C.T. pp. 17, 23, 28; 1 R.T. p. 8.) Appellant then filed a second appeal. (1 C.T. p. 30.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appellant also argued there was insufficient evidence to support her convictions, that her convictions were obtained as a result of suggestive identification, and that her sentence for grand theft must be stayed. (1 C.T. pp. 4, 6.) The Court of Appeal agreed as to the sentencing error, but rejected appellant's remaining claims. (1 C.T. pp. 4, 7-11, 17.)

On June 4, 2012, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment. (*People v. Vargas*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 987.) The court found it was not abuse of discretion to not dismiss one of the prior strikes based on the single act factor or appellant's criminal history. (*Id.* at pp. 982-986.) It also concluded that appellant's sentence was not unconstitutionally cruel or unusual. (*Id.* at p. 986.) On September 12, 2012, this Court granted review, limited to the issues described above.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

## **Current Offenses**

On December 29, 2008, at approximately 2 p.m., Lynn Burrows returned home and discovered that numerous items were missing from the house she shared with Williams Alves and their two sons, including computer equipment, cameras, a jewelry bag, cash, checks, a suitcase, a trash can, and a backpack belonging to her son, Spencer. (1 C.T. p. 4.) Later, neighbor Gabriela Jimenez told the police that she saw a man and woman walking nearby earlier.

According to Jimenez, the woman was rolling a suitcase, and later, she was dragging a large gray trashcan filled with "bags [] of stuff," while the man was carrying a large box. Jimenez described the man as either Caucasian or a light-skinned Hispanic, about 5 feet 10 inches tall, with a thin build and short hair. She described the woman as being Hispanic,

approximately 5 feet 5 inches tall, weighing 150 pounds, and stated that she had black hair with bleached stripes running through it.

Around noon the next day, Claremont Police Officer James Hughes was on patrol in the same neighborhood when he saw appellant and Velasquez near the front door of the Chavez house. (1 C.T. p. 5.) Since the two matched the description of the man and woman Jimenez had seen the day prior, Hughes called for back-up. The officer made a U-turn and detained appellants and Velasquez who had begun to walk down the street. Hughes knocked on the front door of the Chavez house to speak with the owner. At the same time, he noticed a backpack on the ground nearby.

When John Chavez came to the door, he told Hughes that he did not know appellant or Velasquez, and did not know who owned the backpack by his door. Another officer who had arrived to assist Hughes opened the backpack. There, he found a blue IKEA bag, a green duffel bag, a knife, a hammer, several gloves, and \$31 in change. A search of Velasquez turned up methamphetamine and a glass smoking pipe.

Later that day, Jimenez went to the police station. After reading and signing an admonition that she should not be influenced by the photos or make any assumptions, she identified appellant and Velasquez from photographic "six-pack" lineups. A police officer took the backpack found

at the Chavez house and showed it to Spencer Burrows. He identified the backpack as his, but did not immediately recognize the items found inside.

At trial, Alves and Spencer identified the backpack as belonging to Spencer. (1 C.T. p. 6.) They also identified the hammer as theirs, even though they had not previously reported it missing. Alves recognized it mostly by the tape he had placed on the handle several years earlier and the first three letters of his name which he had written on the tape. Burrows recognized the IKEA bag she later found missing from the garage, and also identified as hers a tin box found in the backpack.

Jimenez identified appellant and Velasquez at trial, and reconfirmed her earlier photo identification of them. However, she admitted on cross-examination, that despite the admonition she had read and signed, since the police were showing her the lineups, she presumed the six packs included the photos of the man and woman.

Appellant and Velasquez were convicted of burglary and grand theft in connection with the Alves/Burrows house, and conspiracy to commit theft based on their presence in front of the Chavez house. (1 C.T. pp. 5-6.) The jury acquitted them of receiving stolen property in the Alves/Burrows incident. (1 C.T. p. 6.)

#### **Prior Strikes**

According to the preliminary transcript in the earlier action, appellant approached a car and began to converse with the driver. (1 R.T. pp. 6-7.) Her male companion jumped into the car and held a knife to the driver's neck. (1 C.T. p. 18.) Appellant told the driver she had a gun and took the keys out of the car. (1 C.T. p. 18; 1 R.T. p. 6.) Appellant and her companion then pulled the driver from his car and drove off with it. (1 C.T. p. 18; 1 R.T. p. 6.)

In an information, the prosecution charged appellant with carjacking and robbery committed on the same day against the same victim. (1 C.T. p. 13.) Appellant pleaded in both counts and received a three-year concurrent sentence. The Court of Appeal found, "We agree with Vargas that the transcript shows that the carjacking and robbery convictions were based on the same act—taking the victim's car by force." (1 C.T. p. 18.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN NOT DISMISSING ONE OF APPELLANT'S TWO 1999 FELONY CONVICTIONS, BECAUSE THE TWO PRIOR STRIKES WERE THE RESULT OF THE SINGLE ACT OF TAKING A CAR BY FORCE, AND BECAUSE THE LENGTHY SENTENCE DID NOT SERVE THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE

In *Benson*, this Court left open the question of whether it would be an abuse of discretion for a trial court to fail to dismiss a prior conviction under the Three Strikes law, where, for instance, the priors arose from a single act. Appellant believes that her case presents such situation, and the trial court's failure to dismiss one of her two prior convictions was an abuse of discretion, if not based on the single act factor alone, but in light of the circumstances of her prior and current offenses, as well as her minimal criminal history.

#### A. Relevant Proceedings

On March 2, 2011, appellant appeared for resentencing and renewed her request to dismiss one of the prior convictions arising from the same act. (1 R.T. pp. 1-2.) She pointed out that, since her 1999 convictions which occurred when she was 19 years old, she had only had two cases, neither of which had been serious or violent. (1 R.T. p. 2.) Therefore, she argued that she did not fall within the spirit of the Three Strikes law, regardless of

whether dismissal of one of the priors under the circumstances was a discretionary act or mandatory.

In opposition, the prosecution described appellant's role in the prior strike case as extending beyond that of a mere aider and abettor. (1 R.T. p. 3.) Referencing the probation reports from the prior case, the prosecution mentioned a juvenile robbery arrest which had been reduced to a violation of section 496. The prosecution also cited appellant's "two parole violations" and the 2003 conviction for narcotics possession noted in the probation report, although, as appellant pointed out, that case had ultimately been dismissed. (1 R.T. pp. 3-5.)

The court denied appellant's motion and re-imposed the 30 years to life sentence previously ordered in count 1. (1 R.T. p. 8.) In doing so, the court opined that, for purposes of Three Strikes laws, whether the two convictions arose from a single act or involved a single intent was not the issue, but that the central focus was appellant's "status as a repeat felon." (1 R.T. p. 6.)

Based on the preliminary hearing transcript which the court had before it this time, the court discussed the facts of the prior case, including appellant approaching the victim and conversing with him, then, taking the car keys and pushing the victim out of the car. (1 R.T. pp. 6-7.) The court felt that appellant had had a "very active" role during that incident, yet had

received the "benefit" of a plea agreement, resulting in a three-year concurrent sentence. (1 R.T. pp. 7-8.)

The court then concluded as follows:

And looking at her entire package, as I did before, although I did at the time piously opine that I thought 75 years to life was more than the series of crimes warranted. I concluded at that time, and I conclude today, based on everything she has presented in the new case, in the old case, the two parole violations, the robbery that was reduced to a 496 for a plea in her background, she falls squarely within the spirit of 3 strikes. So motion to strike on this record will be denied, as it was before. Now that we have the benefit of the preliminary hearing transcript, *Benson* clearly applies.

#### (1 R..T. p. 8.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment and found no abuse of discretion in the trial court's failure to dismiss one of the prior convictions. (*People v. Vargas*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 987.) In doing so, the court interpreted *Benson*'s footnote, as follows:

We do not read this as stating, much less signaling, that a trial court automatically abuses its discretion by failing to dismiss a Three Strikes allegation that was part of a single act that yielded another Three Strikes conviction. Such a rule does not involve discretion at all. Instead, it strips the trial court of discretion. But the exercise of discretion under Romero is the whole point of footnote 8 and the text it follows. This is especially so given Benson's conclusion, which rejected the defendant's proposed rule as untenable because it would prevent certain convictions on which sentence had been stayed from ever being treated as a strike, a result that violated both the language and intent of the Three Strikes law. (Benson, supra, 18 Cal.4th at p. 36.) Instead, the stay of sentence was a factor for the trial court to consider when determining whether to dismiss a strike allegation. (Ibid.)

(People v. Vargas, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 983.)

The court added that the single act was "just one more factor, albeit an *important one*, for a trial court's *Romero* analysis." (*Id.* at p. 984, emphasis added.) The court ruled that not dismissing one of the two prior convictions was not required, but within the discretion of the trial court. (*Id.* at pp. 982-985.) The court found no such abuse of discretion, based on the circumstances of the prior and current offenses and appellant's criminal history. (*Id.* at pp. 985-986.)

In a footnote, the Court of Appeal wrote that the trial court had not considered the unproven juvenile robbery "conviction," and that regardless, any such error was harmless. (*Id.* at p. 986, fn. 6.) It also concluded that the trial court had not considered a 2003 narcotics conviction that had belonged to a person other than appellant. (*Ibid.*)

# **B.** Governing Law

## 1. Three Strikes Law

In 1994, the Legislature enacted the Three Strikes law, as codified at section 667, subds. (b) through (i). (Stats. 1994, ch. 12, (Assembly Bill No. 971), § 1, eff. Mar. 7, 1994.) The same year, the voters passed their own version of the law by approving Proposition 184, which added section 1170.12 to the Penal Code. (Prop. 184, as approved by voters, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 1994.)

The purpose of the Three Strikes law is to increase punishment based on recidivism. (*People v. Acosta* (2002) 29 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 105, 127.) Where there is a single qualifying prior conviction, the sentence is doubled. (§§ 667, subd. (e)(1), 1170.12, subd. (c)(1); *People v. Nguyen* (1999) 21 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 197, 202-207.) A defendant who has suffered two or more prior strikes will receive an indeterminate life sentence with a minimum term of 25 years. (§§ 667, subd. (e)(2), 1170.12, subd. (c)(2); *People v. Williams* (2004) 34 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 397, 404.)

Recently, voters approved Proposition 36, titled "Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012) text of Prop. 36, p. 105.) Proposition 36 amended relevant portions of sections 667 and 1170.12, to require that, with certain exceptions, the indeterminate life sentence be imposed only where the current offense is a serious or violent felony. (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012) text of Prop. 36, §§ 2, 4, pp. 105-110; §§ 667, subd. (e)(2)(C), 1170.12, subd. (c)(2)(C).)

Three Strikes law, which was to punish repeated offenders with current convictions for serious or violent felonies. (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012) text of Prop. 36, § 1, p. 105.) Proposition 36 additionally provides, "This act is an exercise of the public power of the people of the State of California for the protection of the health, safety, and welfare of the people

of the State of California, and shall be liberally construed to effectuate those purposes." (*Id.* at § 7, p. 110.)

#### 2. Romero

Section 1385 provides, in relevant part: "(a) The judge or magistrate may, either of his or her own motion or upon the application of the prosecuting attorney, and in furtherance of justice, order an action to be dismissed. … [P] (c) (1) If the court has the authority pursuant to subdivision (a) to strike or dismiss an enhancement, the court may instead strike the additional punishment for that enhancement in the furtherance of justice in compliance with subdivision (a)."

In *People v. Superior Court (Romero)* (1996) 13 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 497, 531 ("*Romero*"), the court held that a prior conviction may be stricken in the interest of justice after the judge has weighed numerous factors, including the defendant's background, the nature of the present offenses, and other individualized considerations. (See *People v. Dent* (1995) 38 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1726, 1731; § 1385.) The decision to dismiss a strike allegation is subject to review for abuse of discretion. (*People v. Superior Court (Romero)*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 531; *People v. Carmony* (2004) 33 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 367, 374.)

Subsequent decisions have further examined the proper criteria for dismissing a prior conviction as a strike, and have unanimously agreed:

The touchstone for that determination is whether "in light of the nature and circumstances of [a defendant's] present felonies and prior serious and/or violent felony convictions, and the particulars of his background, character, and prospects, the defendant may be deemed outside the [Three Strikes] scheme's spirit, in whole or in part, and hence should be treated as though he had not previously been convicted of one or more serious and/or violent felonies."

(*People v. Cluff* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 991, 997-998, quoting *People v. Williams* (1998) 17 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 148, 161; *People v. Garcia* (1999) 20 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 490, 498-499.) A defendant's "recidivist status," while relevant, should not be "singularly dispositive" when deciding whether a prior conviction should be stricken. (*People v. Alvarez* (1997) 14 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 968, 973, 979.)

The purpose of the Three Strikes law; to ensure lengthy prison sentences, should not be the dominant factor, and is likewise not defeated, where the circumstances support a decision to dismiss a strike. (*Id.* at pp. 974-975, 979; *People v. Deloza* (1998) 18 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 585, 590-591.)

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