In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

DARLENE A. VARGAS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S203744 SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 7 - 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B231338 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. KA085541 The Honorable Bruce F. Marrs, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

The statement of intent in enacting the Three Strikes law provides additional support for this conclusion. The purpose of the law is to ensure longer prison sentences for recidivist offenders. (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 1994) text of Prop. 184, p. 64 et seq.) The electorate may deem offenders who have simultaneously violated more than one criminal statute to pose a qualitatively higher risk to public safety than those who have not. This is because such offenders invade more than one societal interest that the Legislature has designated for distinct protection by the enactment of more than one statute. Thus, in keeping with the statutory language and purpose of the Three Strikes law, it logically follows that the electorate intended to make no exception for "same act" circumstances in defining what constitutes a prior serious or violent felony convictions.

Appellant also relies on the dissenting opinion in *People v. Benson*, *supra*, 18 Cal.4th at pages 45-46, which expressed the view that a stay of sentence for one of two prior convictions prohibited future use of the prior

conviction for purpose of punishment under the Three Strikes Law. (AOB 22.) The dissent relied on the language of section 1170.12, subdivision (b)(1), and (b)(1)(B), which provides that "a prior conviction of a felony shall be defined as: [¶] (1) Any offense defined in subdivision (c) of Section 667.5 as a violent felony or any offense defined in subdivision (c) of Section 1192.7 as a serious felony in this state None of the following dispositions shall affect the determination that a prior conviction is a prior felony for purposes of this section:" "(B) The stay of execution of sentence." (*People v. Benson, supra*, 18 Cal.4th at p. 41.)

The dissent noted that this language did not expressly refer to section 654, but rather to a "stay" of execution of sentence, and section 654 does not expressly require a stay of execution of sentence. Rather, the stay requirement is a judicially created rule. (*People v. Benson, supra*, 18 Cal.4th at pp. 41-42.) Thus, the dissent reasoned, nothing in the subdivision (b)(1)(B)'s language "explicitly declares' that a conviction for which section 654 prohibits punishment can be a separate strike." (*Ibid.*, citing *People v. Pearson* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 351, 361.)

However, as the majority explained, courts have repeatedly upheld the Legislature's power to override section 654 by enactments that do not expressly mention the statute. (*People v. Benson, supra*, 18 Cal.4th 24, 32-33.) For example, in *People v. Hicks* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 784, 791-792, this Court held that the Legislature, in enacting section 667.6, subdivision (c), was not required to cite section 654 to demonstrate its intent to create an exception to its provisions. The appellate courts in *People v. Ramirez* (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 559, 573, and *People v. Powell* (1991) 230 Cal.App.3d 438, 441, reached the same conclusion with regard to other statutes creating an exception to section 654's provisions.

Furthermore, there is no plausible reason why the Legislature would require itself to set out in a single statutory provision all the various

provisions of law that prohibit multiple punishment for one course of criminal conduct. As the majority in *Benson* found, the term "stay" arises in a number of contexts other than stays granted under section 654. (*People v. Benson, supra*, 18 Cal.4th at 32, citing § 1170.1, subd. (d); Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.447 [stay permitted where term imposed exceeds statutory limits]; *People v. Karaman* (1992) 4 Cal.4th 335, 341 [temporary stay of sentence to permit defendant to assist his family in moving to a new residence].) This circumstance emphasizes "the great significance [courts] should accord to the use of broad language by the electorate and the Legislature to exclude all stays of execution of sentence, without qualification or exception." (*People v. Benson, supra*, at p. 32.)

In sum, the statement of intention, and the plain language of Three Strikes Law removes any doubt that the electorate clearly intended that all qualifying prior serious or violent felony offenses be deemed strikes without qualification or exception. Thus, there is no rule requiring mandatory dismissal of prior strikes arising from the same act.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AS TO THE RESIDENTIAL BURGLARY COUNT, AND GRANTED THE MOTION AS TO THE REMAINING FELONY COUNTS

Appellant makes an alternative argument that, even if the "same act" circumstance does not require a trial court to dismiss a prior strike, the trial court nevertheless abused its discretion in denying her *Romero* motion to dismiss based on the "single act" circumstance. (AOB 33-37.) She additionally contends that the trial court committed reversible error because it considered a falsely noted prior conviction. (AOB 34.) Appellant has failed to meet her burden of proof in demonstrating an abuse of discretion.

A trial court's discretion to strike prior felony conviction allegations in furtherance of justice is limited. Its exercise must proceed in strict compliance with section 1385, subdivision (a). (*People v. Superior Court*

(Romero), supra, 13 Cal.4th at p. 530.) A trial court's denial of a defendant's motion to dismiss his or her prior conviction allegations under section 1385 is subject to review for abuse of discretion. (People v. Carmony (2004) 33 Cal.4th 367, 374-375.) Discretion is abused where the trial court's decision is "irrational or arbitrary." (Id. at p. 377; People v. Myers (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 305, 310.) The burden is on the party attacking the decision to clearly show that it was irrational or arbitrary. (People v. Carmony, supra, at p. 376.) "In the absence of such a showing, the trial court is presumed to have acted to achieve legitimate sentencing objectives, and its discretionary determination to impose a particular sentence will not be set aside on review." (Id. at p. 377.)

This Court has explained that the "[T]hree [S]trikes law not only establishes a sentencing norm, it carefully circumscribes the trial court's power to depart from this norm and requires the court to explicitly justify its decision to do so. In doing so, the law creates a strong presumption that any sentence that conforms to these sentencing norms is both rational and proper. [¶] In light of this presumption, a trial court will only abuse its discretion in failing to strike a prior felony conviction allegation in limited circumstances [¶] But '[i]t is not enough to show that reasonable people might disagree about whether to strike one or more' prior conviction allegations. [Citation.] . . . '[w]here the record demonstrates that the trial court balanced the relevant facts and reached an impartial decision in conformity with the spirit of the law, we shall affirm the trial court's ruling, even if we might have ruled differently in the first instance' [citation]." (People v. Carmony, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 378.)

A reviewing court should consider the Legislature's decision to protect the public by requiring longer incarceration of criminals who have already committed at least one violent or serious crime. (*Ewing v. California* (2003) 538 U.S. 11, 29-30 [123 S.Ct. 1179, 155 L.Ed.2d 108].)

"[T]he Three Strikes initiative, as well as the legislative act embodying its terms, was intended to restrict courts' discretion in sentencing repeat offenders." (*People v. Superior Court (Romero)*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 528.) To achieve this end, "the Three Strikes law does not offer a discretionary sentencing choice, as do other sentencing laws, but establishes a sentencing requirement to be applied in every case where the defendant has at least one qualifying strike, unless the sentencing court 'conclud[es] that an exception to the scheme should be made because, for articulable reasons which can withstand scrutiny for abuse, this defendant should be treated as though he actually fell outside the Three Strikes scheme." (*People v. Carmony, supra*, 33 Cal.4th at p. 377, quoting *People v. Strong* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 328, 337-338.) In exercising its discretion whether to strike a prior conviction for purposes of sentencing, the trial court must consider the following:

[W]hether, in light of the nature and circumstances of [the defendant's] present felonies and prior serious and/or violent felony convictions, and the particulars of [the defendant's] background, character, and prospects, the defendant may be deemed outside the scheme's spirit, in whole or in part, and hence should be treated as though [the defendant] had not previously been convicted of one or more serious and/or violent felonies.

(People v. Carmony, supra, at p. 377, internal quotation marks omitted.)

In balancing the appropriate factors, "no weight whatsoever may be given to factors extrinsic to the scheme, such as the mere desire to ease court congestion or, a fortiori, bare antipathy to the consequences for any given defendant. [Citation.]" (*People v. Williams* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 148, 161; accord, *People v. Carmony, supra*, 33 Cal.4th at p. 378.) "Where the record demonstrates that the trial court balanced the relevant facts and reached an impartial decision in conformity with the spirit of the law, [the reviewing court] shall affirm the trial court's ruling, even if [it] might have

ruled differently in the first instance." (*People v. Myers*, *supra*, 69 Cal.App.4th at p. 310; accord, *People v. Carmony*, *supra*, 33 Cal.4th at p. 378.)

In this case, the record reveals that the trial court considered appellant's argument and the relevant sentencing factors before denying appellant's *Romero* motion as to one count and granting it as to the remaining counts. Appellant has not shown the court's decision was arbitrary or irrational. Put another way, "It is not enough to show that reasonable people might disagree about whether to strike one or more of [appellant's] prior convictions. Where the record demonstrates that the trial court balanced the relevant facts and reached an impartial decision in conformity with the spirit of the law, [the reviewing court] shall affirm the trial court's ruling" (*People v. Myers*, *supra*, 69 Cal.App.4th at p. 310.)

The record shows that appellant is a repeat offender with two failed attempts at parole, and an escalating pattern of criminal conduct. She was 19 years old at the time of her 1999 strike offenses. (JN, Exh. A at 6.) In denying appellant's *Romero* motion, the trial court noted that appellant was very active in committing those offenses, making the initial contact with the victim, yelling at him to get out of his car, and threatening that she had a gun. Although appellant did not display a gun, her companion did have a knife and pressed it to the victim's neck. (*Vargas II*, RT 6-7.)

Appellant was released on parole while serving her sentence for the 1999 offenses, but violated parole twice. After she was discharged from parole in September 2006, she was convicted of trespass one year later and placed on three years of probation. (*Vargas I*, CT 205.) Sixteen months after that, she committed the current offenses while still on probation.

(Vargas I, CT 210-211.)

In the current case, appellant and her co-defendant broke into a house, ransacked it, and stole numerous items including a desktop computer, two laptop computers, a scanner, a printer, Christmas gifts, toys, clothes, two video cameras, two still cameras, a trash bin, a knitting bag, a backpack, a large suitcase, a recycling bin, a jewelry box, checks, DVDs, shoes, and more than \$400 in cash. (Vargas I, 2RT 621-631, 649-679, 733-747.) The following day, appellant and her co-defendant returned to the same neighborhood in preparation to break into another house, but their plans were thwarted by a police officer who recognized the two as matching the description of the burglary suspects from the previous day. The officer subsequently recovered a backpack from the area where appellant was detained, and found that it containing several items of the stolen property from the previous day. (Vargas I, 2RT 691; 3RT 957-969, 1001-1017, 1031-1039, 1001-1017.) In addition, appellant and her co-defendant were positively identified by a neighbor who had witnessed the burglary of the first house. (*Vargas I*, 2RT 740-749, 754-755; 3RT 1042-44.)

After appellant was arrested, appellant falsely told arresting officers that her name was Patricia Gonzalez. (*Vargas I*, 3RT 1030-1031.) She also gave the police an address and phone number which belonged to her mother and claimed it as her own. (*Vargas I*, 3RT 1045.) One of the officers spoke with appellant's mother, who indicated that appellant stayed with her "from time to time," but that she had not seen appellant "for a while." (*Vargas I*, 3RT 1045.)

The probation report noted three aggravating factors. (*Vargas I*, 1CT 210-211) First, the burglary victims were vulnerable because appellant entered their house when they were absent. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.421(a)(3).) Second, the manner in which the crime was carried out indicated planning, sophistication, or professionalism. (Rule 4.421(a)(8).) And third, the crime involved an attempted or actual taking or damage of

great monetary value, including three computers, additional electronics, jewelry, and over \$400 in cash. (Rule 4.421(a)(9); see, e.g., *Vargas I*, 2RT 630-631, 649-652, 670.)

In taking into account the nature of appellant's current offenses, her criminal history, and the facts relating to the prior strike case, the trial court found that appellant was "squarely within the spirit of Three Strikes." (See *Vargas I*, 4RT 1815, 1CT 205, 210-211; *Vargas II*, RT 8.) Based on everything presented to the court in both cases, the court denied the *Romero* motion as to the residential burglary count, but granted it as to the remaining felony counts by dismissing both strikes as to those counts. (*Vargas II*, RT 8.)

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in reaching this decision. As discussed, appellant has a history as a repeat offender with two prior strikes, a pattern of theft-related offenses, and a history of failed attempts at parole and probation. Therefore, as the trial court properly concluded, she was clearly within the spirit of the Three Strikes law. "[L]onger sentences for career criminals who commit at least one serious or violent felony certainly goes to the heart of the statute's purpose—or spirit." (People v. Strong (2001) 87 Cal. App. 4th 328, 338.) Given appellant's substantial number of convictions over a relatively long period of time, she has demonstrated that she is "the kind of revolving-door career criminal for whom the Three Strikes law was devised." (People v. Gaston (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 310, 320.) With regard to appellant's "same acts" claim, the trial court considered the circumstances of appellant's two prior strikes and exercised its discretion not to impose the prior strikes to all but one felony count. Thus, the trial court properly exercised its discretion by doing precisely what it was supposed to do pursuant to Benson. (See People v. Benson, supra, 18 Cal.4th at pp. 35-36.)

Appellant nevertheless contends that the trial court erred by considering a falsely noted prior because the prosecutor advised the trial court that appellant was charged with robbery while she was a juvenile, which was reduced to receiving stolen property, a violation of section 496, pursuant to a plea agreement. (*Vargas II*, RT 3.) Appellant's counsel clarified that the crime referred to by the prosecutor did not belong to appellant, and after some discussion, the prosecutor agreed. (RT 4-5.) The trial court subsequently made reference to the "section 496" conviction in summarizing its decision to deny appellant's *Romero* motion as to count 1. (RT 8.)

Based on the limited record regarding appellant's 1999 case, it does not appear that the court's reference to a prior section 496 conviction was in error because it appears that appellant did, in fact, suffer a conviction of section 496 as a juvenile. According to the 1999 plea hearing transcript, the trial court noted that her plea deal was favorable given the fact that she had suffered a prior conviction "which was a robbery reduced to a 496[]" (JN, Exh. A at 6.) As such, the trial court here did not err.

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